

System-Level Initiatives to Increase Accessibility to Post-secondary Education

Updated: May 2008 with summary of working group discussions





Published in 2008 by The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation 1000 Sherbrooke Street West, Suite 800, Montreal, QC, Canada H3A 3R2

Toll Free: 1-877-786-3999 Fax: (514) 985-5987

Web: www.millenniumscholarships.ca E-mail: millennium.foundation@bm-ms.org

Glen A. Jones, Theresa Shanahan, Lucia Padure, Sylvie Lamoureux, Emily Gregor Marshalling Resources for Change: System-Level Initiatives to Increase Accessibility to Post-Secondary Education

Includes bibliographical references.

Layout Design: Charlton + Company Design Group

The opinions expressed in this research document are those of the authors and do not represent official policies of the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation, the European Access Network or other agencies or organizations that may have provided support, financial or otherwise, for this project.

# Marshalling Resources for Change

System-Level Initiatives to Increase Accessibility to Post-secondary Education

Prepared by:

Glen A. Jones Theresa Shanahan Lucia Padure Sylvie Lamoureux Emily Gregor

The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

Updated: May 2008

with summary of working group discussions

# Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1		
2.	Government Funding Tools to Improve Access	3		
	2.1 Expanding and Coordinating the Post-Secondary Education System	3		
	2.2 Student Financial Assistance			
	2.2.1 Universal versus targeted aid			
	2.2.2 Loans versus grant			
	2.2.3 Income-contingent loans			
	2.2.4 Needs-based vs. merit-based assistance			
	2.3 Regulating Tuition Fees			
	2.4 Targeted Funding for Special Groups	8		
	2.5 Performance-Based Funding			
	6 Funding Tools to Improve Access and Persistence: Research Gaps			
3.	Involving Community	13		
	3.1 Interests of Students, Community Members, and Local Industry	14		
	3.1.1 Students			
	3.1.2 Community members			
	3.1.3 Local business and industry	15		
	3.2 Types of Community-Based Access Programs	16		
	3.2.1 Early outreach	17		
	3.2.2 Concurrent outreach	18		
	3.2.3 Dual enrolment	18		
	3.2.4 Expanding geographic access	19		
	3.3 Community and Accessibility	21		
4.	Rethinking the System	23		
	4.1 K–16 initiatives	23		
	4.2 Roles of Institutions			
	4.3 Governance and Coordination Structures			
5.	Measuring Success	27		
	5.1 The Objectives	27		
	5.2 Transparency and Openness	28		
	5.3 A Strategic Approach	29		
	5.4 How Will We Know if We Are Successful?	29		
6.	Concluding Observations	31		
	6.1 Context			
	6.2 Develop Clear System Definitions and Goals for "Accessibility" and "Success"			
	6.3 Facilitating Transitions and Mobility			
	6.4 Target Low-Access Populations			
	6.5 Strengthen Canada's Data and Research Infrastructure Focusing on Access to Post-Secondary Education			
	6.6 Recognize That Some Problems Cannot be Solved by Post-Secondary Institutions			
	6.7 Keep an Eye on System Capacity	33		

Acknowledgements	35
Appendix: Summary of Working Group Discussion	37
References	41

# 1. Introduction

Canada has a highly educated population, and our overall rates of participation in post-secondary education are among the highest in the world. The problem of accessibility in Canadian higher education lies not in the overall rate of participation, but in the disparities and inequities in participation among elements of the Canadian population. Canadians from lower economic groups are less likely to obtain a postsecondary education than individuals from wealthier backgrounds. Canada's Aboriginal populations have extremely low levels of participation compared with the population as a whole. Once admitted, there may also be important differences in whether students from different groups succeed in completing a postsecondary credential, or whether they are able to continue into professional or graduate programs.

The objective of this paper is to review approaches to improving accessibility to post-secondary education undertaken at the level of the higher education system. We recognize that many of the most important initiatives associated with increasing accessibility take

place at the level of the post-secondary institution, but that is the subject of another discussion paper in this series. This paper is a review of the literature focusing on the mechanisms available to government to increase access. In addition to summarizing key themes within the research literature, we use sidebars to provide relevant examples. The sidebars are not "best practices," but they help illuminate specific points for discussion. The paper is organized into four major sections: a review of government funding tools to improve access, a discussion of approaches that involve the community in solutions to problems of accessibility, an overview of strategies that involve rethinking the definition and boundaries of the post-secondary system and a discussion of the importance of data and tools to measure and monitor accessibility. We employ a broad definition of accessibility to include issues of retention, completion and success in addition to the ability to enrol in a postsecondary institution.

# 2. Government Funding Tools to Improve Access

Governments use a variety of funding mechanisms to increase access to post-secondary education. These mechanisms generally involve five basic approaches:

- Attempting to increase the number of spaces for students by expanding and coordinating the postsecondary education system
- · Student financial assistance
- · Regulating tuition fees
- Targeting special funding to increase access for specific groups
- · Performance-based funding.

# 2.1 Expanding and Coordinating the Post-Secondary Education System

The funding tools used by government to increase access have evolved over time. The most common approach during the 1960s and 1970s was to increase the supply of spaces in post-secondary education by increasing funding to institutions. Governments adopted a "more is better" approach to higher education access and assumed that "more students would 'automatically' lead to more equality of opportunities, as well as more economic and social benefits, in the sense of high overall returns to society as a whole" (Maassen, Magalhaes & Amaral, forthcoming, p. 6). Human capital theory provided a rationale for increasing funding to post-secondary expansion; there would be large private and social returns associated with public investments in post-secondary education that would lead to economic growth and prosperity.

During this period governments focused on funding policies directed at institutions such as negotiated budgets, line-item budgets, block grants and, by the end of the 1970s, engaged input-based formulas to allocate funds. Many governments also took steps to create higher education systems with different types of institutions. The Canadian provinces created post-secondary systems that included university and community college sectors. Some American states created tiered public higher education systems designed to increase access while also supporting elite, research universities (for example, California and Texas), and the American Federal Government provided Title III support to institutions that served specific populations, such as Aboriginal, Alaskan Native, and Historically Black Colleges and Universities. Combined with relatively low (or no) tuition fees, this strategy increased the post-secondary participation rates of students in the traditional age cohort in the U.S., Canada, Australia, New Zealand and Western Europe (Salmi & Hauptman, 2006).

The approach to higher education funding switched dramatically in the 1980s and 1990s as most OECD countries reduced per-student public funding to post-secondary education. Governments struggled to respond to an international oil crisis, increasing budget deficits, increasing demands for post-secondary education and competing demands for resources from other public sectors. Human capital theory was used to argue that public returns on government investment in post-secondary education were reduced as the level of education of the population increased. Greater emphasis was placed on the individual benefits associated with post-secondary education, and therefore the need to increase the level of private investment in post-secondary education.

The approach to higher education funding policies during this period has been labelled "more is problematic" (Maassen et al., forthcoming, p.6). Governments began to question the real contribution of post-secondary education to national economic development. Funding strategies in the United States, the United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and some continental European nations began to emphasize the demand side of the equation (Salmi & Hauptman, 2006). Private (tuition fee) costs were increased in Canada, the U.S., Australia and New Zealand and student financial assistance mechanisms were viewed as key elements of government access policies. Several OECD nations combined input-based funding formulas with elements of output-based performance funding. Australia introduced tuition fees in 1986 and performance-based funding for under-represented groups in 1994. In North America the practice of performance funding grew rapidly in one-third of U.S. states and in the Canadian provinces of Alberta and Ontario; the share of performance-funding in total public funding stabilizing at a low level of less than four per cent (Lang, 2006; Council of Ontario Universities, 2001).

By the end of the 1990s, governments had become increasingly aware that some populations had less access to post-secondary education than others, and some governments took steps to increase access while paying attention to these differences. For example, the United Kingdom created its Widening Participation Strategy to increase access to higher education for groups with low socio-economic status and under-represented ethnic minorities, and Australia examined issues of under-representation in several reports and initiated a review of equity groups. The approach to higher education funding policies has been described as "more but different," where "gradually the policy discourse has shifted from focusing on problems (and costs) of over-education to the need to develop human competencies and skills in line with knowledge economy goals" (Maassen et al., forthcoming, p. 6).

In addition to engaging enrolment-driven formulas, OECD governments have been funding specific access initiatives to serve under-represented groups through special grants to institutions and performance funding. Several examples are federal grants for Hispanic Serving Institutions in the United States, the establishment of Wananga-Maori colleges in New Zealand, special funding for under-represented students in Quebec, facility renewal, maintenance and upgrading grants to ensure increased access for students with disabilities in Ontario, and performance-funding for students from low-participation neighbourhoods and state schools, and students with disabilities in the U.K. (and Welsh-language students in Wales). Several European nations reconfigured their enrolment formulas adding large output-based components and introduced performance agreements to address access and quality goals (Salmi & Hauptman, 2006; Strehl, 2007).

To increase PSE access and participation, OECD nations have been combining funding policies with structural policies such as:

- eliminating binary systems to increase access to university education (transforming polytechnics into universities in 1992 in the United Kingdom, merging colleges and universities in Australia in 1988) or transforming colleges/polytechnics into regional universities
- differentiating the college sector in binary systems to improve regional access to degree programs (the creation of polytechnics in Finland in 1995, university colleges in British Columbia in early 1990s; and Institutes of Technology and Advanced Learning in Ontario in 2000)
- improving the ability of students to transfer between institutions in the post-secondary system and increase access and mobility (transfer agreements in Alberta and British Columbia, introduction of European Credit Transfer System within the Bologna process in Europe, creation of the École de Technologie Supérieure in Quebec to facilitate college-university transfers)
- expanding distance learning (Open University in the United Kingdom, Thompson River University in British Columbia, Athabasca University in Alberta, Télé Université in Québec)
- increasing access by encouraging the expansion of a private post-secondary education sector (New Zealand, Japan, Philippines, India, Portugal).

## A Canadian Framework for Degrees

In 2007, the Statement of Quality Assurance of Degree Education in Canada was endorsed by the Canadian provincial ministers responsible for advanced education. The statement includes the Canadian Degree Qualifications Framework and the Procedures and Standards for New Degree Programs and Institutions. The major purpose of this statement was to ensure that new programs and institutions meet appropriate standards, help compare degree credentials internationally and create a context to facilitate credit transfer (Council of Ministers of Education, Canada, 2007).

# 2.2 Student Financial Assistance

OECD nations use a variety of financial aid tools to improve accessibility of under-represented groups, including need-based grants, subsidized loans and merit scholarships. The research literature on student financial assistance and accessibility to post-secondary education addresses several major themes: the role of universal vs. targeted aid in improving accessibility; the impact of loans on access, retention and success of various groups of population; and the impact of needs-based vs. merit-based assistance in addressing equity gaps.

#### 2.2.1 Universal versus targeted aid

Universal aid such as tax credits or family allowances have been historically used in Germany, Austria, Belgium, France, and Canada, and, since 1997 to a lesser extent in the U.S. to lower the costs of attending post-secondary education for all students. The costs associated with universal tax credits in Canada are significant, and they now represent a major component of total government spending on student financial assistance (Neill, 2007, p.11). However, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting that universal aid initiatives are inefficient and may even fail to reach

those populations that most need financial support. For example, tax credits are of little benefit to individuals who do not earn income (and therefore do not pay taxes), leave little room for targeted means-tested assistance and are unlikely to have a significant impact on increasing access or address the needs of underrepresented populations (Dynarski, 2007; Fisher et al., 2006; Junor & Usher, 2004; Neill, 2007; Wellen, 2004). It is suggested that to increase accessibility to post-secondary education in Canada tax credits should be refundable, or should be reduced and reinvested in operating grants to post-secondary institutions and targeted student financial assistance programs.

#### 2.2.2 Loans versus grants

American and Canadian research suggests that the prospect of having a large debt can have a negative impact on PSE access and retention for students from lower socio-economic backgrounds, rural and Aboriginal students (Heller, Miller, cited by Davies and Quirke, 2002; Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation, 2006; R.A. Malatest & Associates, 2004). U.S. research, for instance, suggests that increased hours of employment contribute to voluntary withdrawal from PSE and that bursaries and loan remission positively impact persistence (Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation, 2006). We do not, however, know how much debt is manageable and there is a need for research on student perceptions of debt in relation to participation and retention in Canadian post-secondary education. The findings of several Canadian studies illuminate several worrisome trends in this area: a growing number of students are graduating with higher levels of debt, and between one-quarter and one-third of students with debt default on loan repayments (Berger, Motte & Parkin, 2006, Ch. 5, p.1).

#### 2.2.3 Income-contingent loans

Income-contingent loans (ICL) are frequently discussed as an instrument to increase accessibility to post-secondary education, and this approach is used in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. Under this model, assistance is provided in the form of income-contingent loans that are available to all students, and the arrangements for loan repayment

## Income-Contingent Loans in England

In England, the 2003 funding reforms included regulated tuition fees, income-contingent loans and non-repayable grants for poorer students. The new income-contingent loans are available to all students without income-means testing; they are interest-free but indexed to inflation. The threshold for repaying the loans was increased; interest charges should not exceed nine per cent of the income, and after 25 years the remaining liability is forgiven. The higher fees and larger debts are expected to be offset by grants for low- and middle-income students. About one-third of all students are expected to receive these grants (Wellen, 2004).

are tied to the individual's income after graduating. In the research literature supporting income-contingent loan mechanisms, this type of funding is often called "smart" funding (Wellen, 2004), first, because it allows more public funding to be used in expanding the system and less funding for student financial assistance, and, second, because contributions are scaled to the students life-cycle thus making the system "beneficiary-financed" rather than "user" or "parent-financed."

There was some movement towards implementing a national income-contingent loan program in Canada in 1994 (Fisher et al., 2006). Several student organizations argued that income-contingent loans were frequently accompanied by major increases in tuition fees (such as in Australia) and led to increased student debt. Some post-secondary institutions feared that governments would decrease the level of funding for institutions as they increased expenditures on a new national student funding initiative. Income-contingent loans were not introduced in Canada, though some observers argue that elements of income-contingency can be found in the Canadian student loan system in the form of loan forgiveness, interest relief (deferring payments on student loans

during periods of underemployment), and debt reduction policies. Canada may be the only country that uses student loan debt reduction as a mechanism for providing students with financial assistance (Junor & Usher, 2004). However, not all eligible students participate in these income-contingent programs (see Berger et al., 2006, p. 11).

#### 2.2.4 Needs-based vs. merit-based assistance

It is generally assumed that needs-based student financial assistance in the form of grants or loans remove barriers for low and middle income students and increase access to post-secondary education. Merit-based aid is regarded as more regressive relative to targeted aid since students from families with higher income and educational backgrounds have greater opportunities to receive higher grades. American research addresses the redistributive effect of merit-based aid programs funded by state lotteries (with greater numbers of tickets bought by low-income earners) and negative effects of increased costs of college for non-recipients of the scholarship

## Georgia's HOPE Scholarship and Grant Program

The State of Georgia (U.S.) created the HOPE Scholarship and Grant Program in 1993 to provide financial incentives and support for outstanding Georgia students taking their first degree or diploma program, and to help students complete their programs within the recommended time periods. The program pays tuition and mandatory fees, and provides a modest book allowance for eligible students. Only students who have achieved a certain GPA and SAT score are eligible. While some studies found that this scholarship increased first-year enrolment for both white and black applicants (Cornwell, Mustard & Sridhar, 2006; Dynarski, 2000), it is also acknowledged that the program widened the racial and income attendance gaps (between black and white students and low- and high-income students).

(private colleges in Georgia, for instance, responded to the introduction of the HOPE (Helping Outstanding Pupils Educationally) scholarship by increasing tuition fees (Dee & Jackson, 1999; Dynarski, 2002; Heller, 2001; Long, 2004)).

On the other hand, the experiences of a dozen U.S. states show that broad-based merit-aid programs with low threshold of access generally increase access and reduce racial gaps. According to Dynarski (2002) in order to access such a program in Arizona, students should have a grade-point average of 2.5 on a fourpoint scale, and 60 per cent of high school graduates in U.S. exceed this level. She also argues that the widened gap in participation between white and black populations in Georgia could be explained by a provision that reduced HOPE scholarships for federal needs-based grants recipients who are disproportionately black. Canadian research studies have demonstrated that needs-based assistance programs can sometimes benefit wealthy students more than poor students because of the way financial need is assessed. For example, students from wealthy backgrounds who are independent (older than 22 years of age) and attending high-tuition professional programs may be assessed as having a greater financial need than a student from a poor family attending a low-tuition program (Fisher et al., 2006). The policy challenge has been to find mechanisms for measuring student need so that financial assistance is given to those who need it most, and to find an appropriate balance between (expensive) grant and (less-expensive) loan programs in promoting accessibility.

## 2.3 Regulating Tuition Fees

The role of tuition fees as a source of revenue within higher education systems varies dramatically by jurisdiction. While tuition fees have long been commonplace in the United States and Canada, many countries only recently introduced fees as a mechanism for partially supporting system expansion, and there are jurisdictions where there are no tuition fees. Some jurisdictions have provided institutions with considerable flexibility to establish tuition fee levels, though concerns over accessibility have led many jurisdictions to regulate or directly control the level of tuition charged by all or some institutions. For example, in some systems there are major differences between the level of fees charged by universities for professional programs, and the level of fees charged by high access institutions, such as community colleges. There is probably no other issue that so clearly demonstrates the different approaches to the coordination of higher education

## Access and Fee Re-Regulation in Ontario

In 1998, under the Harris government in Ontario, the tuition fee levels for some programs were controlled, but universities were allowed to increase professional and graduate program fees with the condition that a component of tuition income was used by institutions to support need-based student assistance. According to Frenette (2005b), changes in enrolment patterns by socio-economic background were more prominent in Ontario than other provinces because of Ontario's deregulated tuition in professional programs. The probability of enrolment of students whose parents held a graduate or professional degree in costly fields

increased, as well as of those whose parents had no post-secondary education. The situation was quite different for students from middle-income backgrounds. This disparity in terms of low- and middle-income is explained by the way student assistance was calculated. The student aid system was adjusted to help students in need, but middle-income students did not qualify for increased assistance, while their parents were unable to cope with higher tuition fees. Davies and Quirke (2002) found that following deregulation, medical students at the University of Western Ontario were coming from increasingly wealthy families.

among the Canadian provinces than tuition fee policy: low university tuition and no tuition fees in the CEGEP sector have been longstanding com-ponents of Quebec government policy, while Ontario and British Columbia have both experimented with tuition freezes and, at different times, forms of fee deregulation. Manitoba and Newfoundland and Labrador have decreased tuition fees, and this was a major recommendation in a 2007 review of affordability to post-secondary education in Saskatchewan. The international experience is equally varied. For example, the United Kingdom has recently introduced fees, and Ireland has abolished them.

Recent comparative and Canadian studies on enrolment rates show that overall participation rates have continued to increase regardless of whether governments have frozen, increased or eliminated fees (Swail & Heller, 2004; Wellen, 2004, Finnie, Laporte & Lascellas, 2004). However, the relationship between fee levels and accessibility is nuanced and complex. As David Stager noted two decades ago (1989), while students are somewhat influenced by tuition levels when they make decisions about post-secondary education—what is often called price-sensitivity—the key question is whether under-represented groups are more sensitive than others. It could be argued that higher fees allow higher education systems to provide more spaces. When introducing fees in 1998, the U.K. government reasoned that instead of subsidizing well-off students via public funding it would be fairer to increase access for under-represented groups. At the same time, studies examining low-income, part-time students or black students have found that these groups may be more price sensitive than the population as a whole (Finnie, Laporte & Lascellas, 2004; Swail & Heller, 2004; Wellen, 2004).

It is also important to remember that decisions to attend post-secondary education are influenced by a wide range of factors in addition to the level of tuition costs. Recognizing the interplay of tuition fees, available student aid programs, costs of living and public grants to institutions provides a more accurate international comparative picture (Usher & Cervenan, 2005). Some authors suggest that labour market conditions, increasing private returns to post-secondary education and social and cultural influences provide strong incentives for individuals from low-income

groups to access higher education (Wellen, 2004; Swail & Heller, 2004). Davies and Quirke (2002) found that the rate of participation by students from low-income backgrounds grew, despite increasing tuition fees, for several reasons: the demand for university credentials remained high because they were seen as a major way to access better jobs, the value of lower credentials, like the high school diploma, is declining, and the shift towards a service-oriented labour market reduced manual or blue-collar opportunities for those without post-secondary education. At the same time, while participation of low-income students increased as well, they are not likely to choose high-tuition fields.

# 2.4 Targeted Funding for Special Groups

Governments frequently use funding formulas as a mechanism to stimulate enrolment growth, and while these formulas and funding mechanisms are regarded as efficient tools for increasing student spaces, they are not designed to meet the specific needs and recognize the additional costs associated with educating certain groups of students (Salmi & Hauptman, 2006). Demand-side mechanisms that directly fund students-such as grants, scholarships and students loans—are viewed as more effective mechanisms to attract mature, rural, isolated and Aboriginal students. However, most student aid programs are not designed to address the special needs of older students, for instance. Based on an international survey of funding instruments, Salmi and Hauptman conclude that supply-side policy mechanisms, such as funding formulas and special-purpose/categorical grants, should be redesigned to create incentives to recruit older students, perhaps by paying a higher premium to institutions according to the level and intensity of their distance learning activities.

Governments target special-purpose grants to fund institutions that focus on attracting certain groups of population such as Aboriginal population (e.g., tribal colleges in the U.S., First Nations University of Canada, and Batchelor College in Australia). Studies on barriers to post-secondary access and retention by under-represented groups generally conclude that these types of institutions

## Special Purpose Funding in the United States

Federal development grants, planning grants, loans for capital improvements and student-driven formula funding are allocated through Institutional Development Programs (under Title III and V of the *Higher Education Act* of 1965) to institutions that enroll large proportions of minority and financially disadvantaged students with low per-student expenditures. These programs started by supporting the nation's Historically Black Colleges and Universities. About 214,000 or 16 per cent of all African-American higher education students in the nation are currently enrolled at these institutions. This type of funding has been expanded to support American Indian Tribally Controlled Colleges and

Universities, Alaska Native and Native Hawaiian Serving Institutions and more recently Hispanic-Serving Institutions. To be eligible institutions must meet eligibility requirements that focus on the ratio of the targeted population to total student enrolments. At least 20 per cent of the undergraduate students must be Alaska Natives for the institution to be designated an Alaska Native Serving Institution, and the figure is 10 per cent for Native Hawaiian Serving Institutions. A Hispanic-Serving Institution is defined as a non-profit institution that has at least 25 per cent Hispanic full-time equivalent enrolment (U.S. Department of Education, 2007).

contribute to increasing access and success, and they are better at addressing the learning and community needs of particular ethnic groups. Some of these institutions have been very successful in recruitment and achieving high rates of graduation. However, it is also largely acknowledged that these semi-independent post-secondary institutions governed by respective communities face financial problems, have inadequate

infrastructure, and lack indigenous staff, and that federal funding does not cover all Aboriginal students (for example, students not on reserve) (R.A.Malatest & Associates, 2004; Stein, 1990).

In addition to funding special purpose institutions, several governments have been encouraging all institutions to attract under-represented students. Ontario, for example, identified in 2004 four under-represented

## Targeting Under-Represented Populations in Australia

In 1990 Australia identified six groups that should have more equitable access to higher education: indigenous students, students with disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds, students with non-English speaking backgrounds, students with disabilities, students from rural and isolated areas, and women in non-traditional fields of study. In 1994 equity funding was linked to performance indicators measuring access, participation, retention and success of these groups. A review of the system identified both strengths and weaknesses (James et al., 2004). The systematic, evidence-based strategy emphasized measuring and monitoring equity outcomes, and the initiative has led to a

greater understanding of system and institutional performance. For example, an analysis of the equity indicator data reveals that the most significant gap is in access for low socio-economic status groups and students from rural and isolated area. The level of access and retention of students with disabilities and women in non-traditional fields improved. However, the review noted that equity group membership is an inexact approach to determining individual disadvantage, the system of indicators is technically sophisticated, and equity groups should be re-evaluated to consider the inter-connectedness between groups.

groups of population in PSE—Aboriginal students, students with disabilities, first-generation students, and Francophone students—and allocates special-purpose grants to institutions, largely based on enrolment numbers. England and Scotland pay premiums to institutions for students from geographic areas with historically low participation rates. Ireland increased the share of funding provided to institutions through vouchers for disadvantaged students. Australia defines equity groups and uses performance funding to address access and persistence of underrepresented groups.

Governments also co-fund access programs and community programs for under-represented groups (see below) and use legislation to target particular forms of accessibility. For example the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) has built-in accountability requirements that require institutions to make their buildings more physically accessible to students with disabilities. Institutions are required to report on how they are going to use capital funding to achieve physically accessible facilities. Major policy challenges in addressing the needs of underrepresented groups deal with identifying and defining the neediest groups of population, and surpassing the self-identification issue. Collection of relevant student information via institutional, regional or national longitudinal surveys is essential in overcoming these challenges.

# 2.5 Performance-Based Funding

As mentioned earlier, some governments have developed mechanisms for funding institutions based on their performance, but there are substantive differences in approach. Performance funding can be directed to research or teaching; it can constitute a small share of overall funding as in set-aside performance-based funding in North America, or be organized in the form of a more systematic relationship between governments and institutions through performance contracts. The allocation mechanism can be competitive, in that institutions compete among each other for performance funding (such as in Alberta,

## Types of Performance Indicators

The most widespread type of performance indicators in North America are graduation rates (Alberta, Ontario, Colorado, Florida, New Jersey, South Carolina), and employment rates (Ontario, Alberta, South Carolina, Tennessee), but some mechanisms also include retention/persistence indicators (Tennessee), average time to completion (New Jersey), and the default rate on loans (Ontario—which is not attached to funding) (Council of Ontario Universities, 2001). In some European countries significant portions of enrolment-driven funding formulas link funding to student progress, such as the number of students who complete each year of studies (England), the number of graduates (Netherlands), the number of credits achieved by students (Norway), or the number of students who pass exams (the socalled taximeter principle of funding used in Denmark) (Strehl, 2007; Salmi & Hampton, 2006).

Florida and Ontario) or non-competitive (such as in Colorado, New Jersey, Tennessee and South Carolina). Performance funding mechanisms can support improvements in accessibility by rewarding access (via input performance indicators such as the number of entering students from low-participation neighbourhoods or under-represented groups), persistence (via output performance indicators, such as graduation rates in Ontario) and equity goals (through equity indicators in Australia or performance contracts).

One of the major issues associated with performance funding is to create a mechanism that supports change in performance without destabilizing the higher education system. Typically one to two per cent of the PSE budgets are based on performance indicators (most U.S. states, Ontario), and this is usually seen as a large enough share of total system funding to generate behavioural change (Council of Ontario Universities, 2001). However, performance funding can be inefficient since generating performance data can be expensive and time consuming

given the small share of overall funding allocated through these mechanisms. On the other hand, there can be serious problems if the share of performance funding is too large. South Carolina initiated a performance funding system in 1996 and was expected to allocate all funding by 1999–2000. The experiment is generally viewed as a failure because there were too many indicators and standards, and the signals to institutions were mixed and confusing (Bruneau & Savage, 2002). The system has been revised to ensure that no more than five per cent of total funding is distributed using performance indicators.

Another concern with the use of performance funding to support accessibility is the failure to account for institutional differentiation. System-wide benchmarks in a highly diversified system (rural vs. urban institutions, large vs. small, comprehensive versus specialized) may lead to the inequitable treatment of institutions. A number of jurisdictions have attempted to address this problem. For example, in New Jersey the graduation rate for high-risk students became a separate indicator. South Carolina divides its 33 institutions into four categories, and Alberta makes the distinction between research and non-research institutions (Council of Ontario Universities, 2001).

More recently governments in many jurisdictions have started using a new form of performance agreement with institutions called performance contracts. Typically these are not legalistic contracts, but rather agreements that take into account differences in institutional mission and provide some funding stability (such as the multi-year agreements in Ontario and France). Performance contracts frequently involve agreements over enrolment, and they can include expectations to increase enrolment of previously under-represented populations (such as in the new arrangements in Ontario). While performance contracts are a relatively new funding and accountability mechanism, they have already been used in a range of jurisdictions, including Austria, Denmark, Finland, Spain, two Canadian provinces (Ontario and Quebec) and several American states. There has been little research on the role of performance contracts in terms of accessibility to post-secondary education.

## Performance Contracts in Quebec and Spain

The Quebec Ministry of Education introduced performance contracts in 2000. These contracts between the government and universities were designed to define objectives for a three-year period; measure the extent to which objectives were reached, and report on the outcomes. In 2003, according to Trottier and Bernatchez (2005), performance contracts accounted for 14.2 per cent of overall system funding (p. 25). The Quebec government did not renew these performance contracts in 2003. In Spain performance contracts have been signed between the government of Madrid and six public universities in the capital city (Salmi & Hauptman, 2006). The agreement is set for five years and combines formula funding and performance funding. The funding formula allocates resources for teaching and research and represents 85 per cent of total funding. The remaining support is targeted towards government policy objectives, including compensatory payments to reduce past resource disparities.

# 2.6 Funding Tools to Improve Access and Persistence: Research Gaps

There have been a large number of Canadian research studies that analyzed various factors affecting participation in post-secondary education (Berger et al., 2006; Drolet, 2005; Fisher et al., 2006; Frenette, 2003, 2005a, 2005b, 2007; Finnie et al., 2004, 2007; Junor & Usher, 2004).

One of the clear lessons from this research is that access cannot be understood in terms of a single factor; access to post-secondary education involves the interplay of a complex range of factors, including parental background (income and educational attainment), available aid and level of tuition fees,

information on the costs and benefits of receiving a post-secondary education, and distance to postsecondary institutions. In the same way, these studies suggest that increasing access requires a range of policy measures, including student financial assistance, community involvement, improving information on costs and student aid, system design, and the need for additional data in order to understand inequities in opportunity.

However, there continue to be a number of important gaps in the research on funding policy instruments and their impact on access. Canadian studies on access focus on university participation rather than college participation, and on the general population rather than particular groups. There has been little research on how the level of tuition fees and borrowing influence the participation of underrepresented groups. There is also a need for more research on policy instruments designed to increase access for Aboriginal populations, to increase regional access, and to address the special needs of new immigrant populations in large metropolitan areas.

# 3. Involving Community

Governments and post-secondary institutions are not the only agents in expanding access. Many other community members and organizations have a committed interest in ensuring that access to post-secondary education is open and equitable. Although many access initiatives developed by these groups (for example, counselling or scholarship programs offered by local businesses) are administered at a local level, in some cases, system-level governments have facilitated or developed programs that engage members of communities—whether defined by geography, language, or ethnicity—in the effort of expanding access to post-secondary education for particular populations.

A report on post-secondary access in Canada by the Canadian Policy Research Networks (2002) demonstrates that financial support alone is not enough to expand access to and encourage success in post-secondary education. A student's plan or expectations related to post-secondary education is one of the strongest indicators of whether he or she will pursue post-secondary education. Of particular interest to those concerned with expanding access are those students who are qualified to attend postsecondary institutions but choose not to apply. As the CPRN report notes, "this self-selection process eliminates many qualified students, often on the basis of family background or other characteristics over which they have no control. It is important to examine factors affecting educational plans in so far as this helps us to identify specific groups of students who may need to be targeted for policy interventions" (p. 6). Socio-economic status was identified as a major factor and directly proportional with student plans. Other factors include demographic characteristics such as gender, language, province of origin, ethnic and immigrant status, rural status, and disability. The report also identified social factors such as family structure, access to information and counseling services, the character of the counseling students receive, students' attitudes, parental attitudes, and student academic ability (pp. 8–10). A student's community influences her or his expectations for post-secondary education.

Community involvement is also important in terms of improving student retention and engagement. Many of the same factors that influence educational plans also affect a student's decision to continue and complete post-secondary education. Students also face the additional challenges of living away from and leaving family or community support networks, problems associated with academic preparation and confidence, and being able to pay for post-secondary education (pp. 14–16). Many of these factors are strongly influenced by members of the student's local community and can be alleviated through the supports offered by community-based outreach programs.

Given these factors, governments sometimes initiate programs that connect post-secondary institutions and their immediate local communities in order to promote post-secondary access and success for under-represented populations. These initiatives are frequently responses to government studies or statements that identify problems in access to postsecondary education. These reports give shape to the actual access strategies, either by noting particular access needs, or by recommending particular access initiatives. For example, Ontario: A Leader in Learning (Rae, 2005), argued that "outreach programs for lowincome groups, persons with disabilities, Aboriginal peoples, some racial minorities and francophones could be better encouraged and supported" (p. 18) and recommended that to achieve these goals, "[the province] can do a better job, starting in elementary school, of celebrating the various skills, professions and talents that make up our society. We have to bring high schools, guidance counsellors, local communities, parents and students into the picture at a much earlier date" (p. 20). A similar Alberta report, A Learning Alberta (Alberta Advanced Education, 2006), recommended that the province "provide funding for regional accessibility plans. The plans must be developed by inter-sectoral partnerships between residents, literacy and other community-based learning providers, Community Adult Learning Councils, regional consortia, post-secondary institutions, schools, libraries, Parent-link centres, businesses, and others in a specified geographic area" (p. 19). Provided with such a mandate, local, provincial, and federal governments may fund and support community-based programs that address these identified needs.

The goals of these community-based access programs vary. Some programs are designed to prepare students for admission to post-secondary education. Another approach is to help admitted students persist and succeed in post-secondary education, or to work towards strengthening an individual's or community's relationship with post-secondary education in the interest of promoting lifelong learning (Swail & Perna, 2002; Dougherty, Reid, & Nienhusser, 2006). The changing structures of these programs also reflect a shift in thinking on student access. There is now a recognition that admission means little if students cannot succeed in and complete their post-secondary education (Lambert, Zelman, Allen & Bussière, 2004). These shifts draw broadly on research that relates the importance of academic and social integration into post-secondary education to access and success (Astin, 1993; Tinto, 1987). The historically low graduation rates associated with many high-access programs has led to an increased focus on sustained support beginning early in the student's secondary education and continuing through their post-secondary experience. It has also led to engaging the support of the student's community (Myers et al., 2004; McElroy & Arnesto, 1998). By improving social and academic integration through sustained support and community involvement, community-based access programs can contribute to the widening of participation in postsecondary education.

## 3.1 Interests of Students, Community Members, and Local Industry

Students, community members, and local industry all have a vested interest in expanding access to postsecondary education in their local communities.

#### 3.1.1 Students

A study of young Canadians by the Canadian Research Policy Networks (de Broucker, 2006) analyzes current and prospective students' perspectives on access to post-secondary education. The students involved in this study indicated a desire for locally-oriented programming and resources, asking policy-makers to "root schools and post-secondary institutions in their communities.... Schools or colleges in each community should be seen not simply as places where you take courses, but more broadly as centres for community development and access to learning" (p. 15). In addition to this strong local mandate, students also identified as priorities national policies and standards for higher education that would increase mobility between institutions, sectors, and provinces, and expressed a desire for comparability between credentials (pp. 14-15). Students also suggested that the provinces work with employers to develop core competencies for employment in order to connect academic credentials with labour market options both locally and internationally.

#### 3.1.2 Community members

The Report on Public Expectations of Postsecondary Education in Canada by the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (1999) identifies expectations for post-secondary access by the Canadian public. The report's findings indicate that while Canadians are generally quite satisfied with post-secondary education (p. 13), there are several areas in need of improvement. The public strongly believes that post-secondary education should be widely accessible (p., 5; see also "Post-secondary drivers", 2005). Like

INVOLVING COMMUNITY 15

students, the broader public also desires increased coordination of post-secondary institutions at the system level (p. 7). Many also indicate a desire for post-secondary institutions to "serve as pillars of regional economic growth and of global competitiveness" (p. 1), focusing on local and regional economic and social priorities (p. 9; see also Livingstone & Hart, 2001).

Within communities, particular groups, especially those who do not feel that they have been well-served by post-secondary education, may be a particularly strong voice for improving access. These groups can provide particularly important input for community consultations and community-based access programs.

#### 3.1.3 Local business and industry

The primary goal of local industry, in expanding access to post-secondary education, is to ensure a supply of well-trained and properly-credentialed workers in appropriate numbers. Programs sponsored or in partnership with local industries can develop direct or indirect relationships with institutions to meet these goals.

Local industries may establish programs that draw direct links between students in a particular community, local post-secondary institutions, and those businesses or industries. These programs inform

#### First Nations Community Involvement

Indian and Northern Affairs Canada's *Native Education and Training Strategy* (1991, Appendix 5a) establishes guidelines that encourage Aboriginal communities to offer input on the governance, curriculum, and services of regional postsecondary institutions, to ensure that members of that community are represented in post-secondary policies and programming.

#### "3. Native Community Involvement with Postsecondary Institutions

Eligibility to receive funding under the Strategy will be dependent upon a college or university agreeing to:

- (a) Ensure that a process exists which would provide local Native community 3 representatives with direct access to the governing body/senate on all aspects effecting Native postsecondary education within the institution;
- (b) Establish a Native committee with significant local Native community membership to oversee key Native programs and services. The committee will also assist in the determination of appropriate mature student admissions criteria for Native students and be involved in reviewing the admissions protocol affecting Native applicants;
- (c) Develop, in collaboration with the institutional Native committee, a comprehensive plan of action, including an evaluation process, designed to enhance the institution's sensitivity to Native issues and to increase the accessibility and retention rates of Native students within the institution. This plan should be approved by the institution's governing body/senate.

Colleges and universities which have demonstrated a previous commitment to addressing the educational and training needs of Native people through the provision of quality Native programs and services, will be given preference in terms of Strategy funding."

# Francophone Community Engagement

The Ontario Office of Francophone Affairs' Stratégie pour compléter le système d'éducation en français langue première au Canada offers a strategic plan to ensure that Ontario's francophones have access to a full range of educational and postsecondary options in the province. One cornerstone of this plan is engagement in francophone education from the entire francophone community. The minister's speech announcing the initiative (Ontario Office of Francophone Affairs, 2005) notes:

"...[It is] necessary for the broader Francophone community to become a stakeholder in
this educational mission and for schools to
tap into associations, in all their diversity, the
business world, and, of course, the leadership
of parents and youth....Who are these key
partners? Of course, we immediately think of
major provincial, territorial and national
organizations, economic players, including
credit unions and various business organizations, numerous cultural organizations, and
postsecondary institutions."

students about learning options, train workers for jobs in these particular industries in partnerships with post-secondary institutions, and can provide enhanced employment opportunities upon completion of the program.

Local businesses and industries are also invested in expanding access to post-secondary education in the interest of general regional economic growth. More training and educational opportunities mean a large pool of skilled workers from which to hire. The development of technology clusters, for example, demonstrates a mutually beneficial relationship between post-secondary institutions and industry (Wolfe, 2002; Bramwell & Wolfe, 2005).

Along with the benefits to students and institutions these programs can bring, the influence of local industries on post-secondary education have created concerns about market-driven behaviour within academic institutions, an abandonment of basic research in favour of externally funded applied research, and threats to academic freedom and institutional autonomy (Slaughter & Leslie, 1997), as well as a concern that students are being directed into non-degree programs that might limit their future educational opportunities (Greenbank, 2006). From this perspective, the influence of local industry may have negative implications for access.

## 3.2 Types of Community-Based Access Programs

Community-based access programs usually involve some combination of relationships between the school system, the post-secondary system, and local community members and organizations. There are several different types of initiatives with different objectives, including early outreach programs, concurrent outreach programs, dual enrolment programs, and geographic access initiatives. Many such programs

## Involving Industry

In order to expand the number of skilled workers for the oil industry, Petro-Canada has established the Petro-Canada Millwright Centre and funded a 300-seat expansion of millwright programs at the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology (Petro Canada, 2007).

A recently-established co-op program in Bruce County, Ontario, links the local hydro company with students of Fanshawe College's Mechanical Technician diploma program. The press release for the program notes that "the Co-op Diploma Apprenticeship Program combines a college diploma with apprenticeship training, which adds flexibility to the apprenticeship system, responds to employer needs and attracts more young people to the skilled trades" (Government of Ontario, 2007).

INVOLVING COMMUNITY 17

are initiated by particular institutions and community groups. This report focuses on initiatives facilitated or developed by system-level governments.

#### 3.2.1 Early outreach

Students are usually recruited into early outreach programs in middle school or in the first years of high school. These programs are aimed at the remediation of a perceived educational deficit, and as such are often aimed at specific, educationally disadvantaged populations, as identified by ethnic, socioeconomic, or geographic status. These programs commonly include tutoring, counselling about post-secondary options, and assistance with the post-secondary application and funding process. Early outreach programs respond to the importance of educational plans in students' post-secondary achievement. They work to expand and adapt students' understanding of post-secondary education and of their place within it, while also addressing and mitigating the factors that may affect such plans, including academic ability and confidence, and parental attitudes about education.

Evaluations of community-based access programs (Myers et al., 2004; Swail & Perna, 2002) have found that such programs can achieve higher success rates

### Upward Bound

Perhaps the most well-known early outreach program, Upward Bound is the primary component of the federally-run group of TRIO programs in the United States that work to improve the post-secondary participation rate of first-generation, low-income students. Upward Bound offers counselling and tutoring in academic subjects and in the post-secondary application process, and works to involve parents in these activities. Upward Bound's primary goal is admission to post-secondary institutions—other TRIO programs (primarily Student Support Services) support eligible students once they enter a post-secondary program (McElroy & Armesto, 1998).

by engaging with multiple stakeholders within the local community, including parents and community leaders. Local business and industry can serve as a source of funding and support. Some outreach initiatives have expanded to include participation from schools and local organizations in order to

## Pathways to Education Canada

Pathways to Education Canada (2007) is a charitable organization created to reduce poverty and its effects by lowering the high school dropout rate and increasing access to post-secondary education among disadvantaged youth in Canada. The Pathways to Education Program is a proven effective model, first created and implemented in 2001 in Regent Park by the Regent Park Community Health Centre, that is now expanding with local partners to five additional locations in Canada. The Pathways to Education Program provides four key supports—academic, social, financial, and advocacy—to ensure that young people will successfully complete high school, continue on to post-secondary programs and become actively engaged in their career development.

According to an evaluation completed by an arm's-length agency, Pathways has achieved tremendous success in lowering the dropout rate in the Regent Park community. The report notes that Pathways has offered a significant return on investment for donors, and has:

- Reduced the dropout rate from 56 per cent pre-Pathways to 10 per cent today;
- Lowered student absenteeism by 50 per cent;
- Reduced the number of students deemed to be "at risk" academically by 60 per cent;
- Increased the college/university enrolment of graduates from 45 per cent to 80 per cent—twice the provincial average.

potentially deal with some of the systemic issues that underscore some of these educational disadvantages (Swail & Perna, 2002).

#### 3.2.2 Concurrent outreach

Concurrent outreach programs work with students from under-represented groups in the period immediately preceding application to a post-secondary institution and provide support while they attend the institution. These programs often include: recruitment (to post-secondary education and to the program itself); assistance with the post-secondary application process; and social, academic and limited emergency financial support throughout an otherwise standard academic program. Concurrent outreach programs also may admit students to the post-secondary program according to adapted admissions standards, and may provide a slightly modified curriculum (including additional courses or a modified progression through the program). Another version of such programs is the transitional program, designed to offer non-traditional and returning students academic and social support in a pre-university year.

Concurrent outreach problems address the issue of attrition, which can be a dramatic problem for those students who have successfully entered postsecondary education, but who lack the academic and social support and capital to see them through to a credential (Lambert, Zelman, Allen & Bussière, 2004; Tinto, 1987). Among Canadian students, post-secondary attrition averages approximately 40 per cent, but can be significantly higher for minority, part-time and mature students, and for students who are employed for many hours while they attend post-secondary education (Grayson & Grayson, 2003). By providing academic and social support and by increasing opportunities for students to become integrated and engaged with the institution, concurrent outreach programs can mitigate many of these challenges.

Concurrent outreach programs can dramatically improve participants' access and graduation rates, but these initiatives are particularly sensitive to shifts and reductions in government funding because they are designed to provide continual and ongoing support over the course of a student's program (Alcorn & Levin, 1998; R.A.Malatest & Associates, 2004).

## Aboriginal Access Programs in Manitoba

The Aboriginal access programs in Manitoba adapt entrance requirements for targeted populations to a variety of academic and professional degree and certificate programs, and provide academic and social support systems for enrolled students, including a cohort model of enrolment and progress towards degree. In these programs, the universities and colleges retain control of the curriculum and of certification, while the province identifies qualified participants and administers the funding. Despite tenuous budgets, the graduation rate of the programs is about 40 per cent—compared with a five per cent graduation rate for Aboriginal students not in such programs. The programs serve as models for similar work in other provinces. (Alcorn & Levin, 1998, R.A.Malatest & Associates, 2004).

#### 3.2.3 Dual enrolment

Dual enrolment programs allow students to simultaneously pursue secondary and post-secondary courses, often receiving credit towards both a secondary and a post-secondary credential. Dual enrolment programs take two basic forms: high school students can enrol in particular courses at a local college or university while they are completing secondary school, or some selected post-secondary credit courses can be offered in secondary schools. Under certain circumstances these programs can be important mechanisms for expanding access because dual enrolment can:

 Reduce the overall cost to students of a postsecondary credential. Most post-secondary credits offered by American state-run, dual enrolment programs, are paid for through state education budgets, not by individual students. In many cases, these credits can later be transferred to a postsecondary degree program. INVOLVING COMMUNITY 19

- Help students who might not have otherwise considered post-secondary education. Dual enrolment courses provide students with an example of the expectations of post-secondary work and their ability to succeed in a post-secondary classroom. This is particularly true for students who pursue their dual enrolment credits at a post-secondary institution.
- Allow students to begin post-secondary work as full-time students. For students who otherwise might have begun post-secondary work as a part-time student, spending their first year as full-time student in a dual enrolment program can increase persistence and their chances of earning a credential.

While dual enrolment programs are common in the United States, Canadian cases are far more unusual (Skolnik, 2004). A further challenge to these programs in Canada is the lack of coordination between post-

secondary institutions at the system level; only a few Canadian provinces maintain well-organized articulation and transfer agreements between institutions. If students cannot easily transfer dual enrolment credit towards a post-secondary credential wherever they choose to complete their program, many of the benefits of dual enrolment programs are threatened.

#### 3.2.4 Expanding geographic access

Given Canada's immense size and the relative concentration of post-secondary institutions in urban and southern areas of most provinces, ensuring geographic access to post-secondary education in Canada has been a challenge. As Frenette (2007) has noted, students across Canada tend to attend post-secondary education locally, and consequently, if there is not a post-secondary institution near their homes, they are less likely to pursue post-secondary

## Dual Enrolment Programs in the United States

A study of dual enrolment programs in the United States offers recommendations for ensuring that dual enrolment programs help expand access to postsecondary education. Hoffman (2005) argues that:

To serve as a strategy for promoting college access and credential attainment, dual enrolment programs should meet a number of criteria:

- The mission is to serve a wide range of students.
- The program is embedded within a K-16 structure and a high school reform initiative.
- There is equal access for all qualified students across all the state's schools.
- Concurrent credits are used as a proficiencybased acceleration mechanism.
- The secondary and post-secondary sectors share responsibility for dual enrolment students.
- The program collects data for purposes of assessing impact and improving the program.

 Funding mechanisms are based on the principle of no cost to students and no harm to partnering institutions. (pp. 1–2)

A second study, for the United States Department of Education (Karp, Bailey, Hughes, & Fermin, 2004), offers "recommendations to policymakers and program regulators":

- Clarify program goals so that the policies and regulations support the stated goals of the program.
- Identify funding mechanisms that meet the needs of all stakeholders.
- Think through the implications of both minimal and detailed dual enrolment policies on program activities. Develop ways to ensure the rigour of dual enrolment courses.
- Identify the needs of students beyond academic course taking.
- Meet the needs of students interested in technical courses as well as academic courses. (p. 2)

## York University's Advance Credit Experience

The York University Faculty of Education Advanced Credit Experience (ACE) is a post-secondary education experience for high school students. The students who attend ACE are from diverse ethno-racial and low-income backgrounds and are the first generation in their families to attend post-secondary education. They gain exposure to higher education so that they may concretely experience some of the benefits of choosing to pursue their education beyond high school. This program allows students to be part of an environment that is supportive and nurturing, which values critical thinking, personal growth and development. This program is intended to increase their likelihood of success and their level of confidence in undertaking post-secondary courses The ACE students return to their high schools as role models and leaders within the school and positively influence other students to pursue a similar journey towards higher education (Faculty of Education, York University, 2007).

education. Furthermore, moving to another municipality in order to pursue post-secondary education adds significantly to the cost of a credential, a challenge compounded by the lower average economic status of rural Canadians. Finally, the geographic barriers for students in particular rural communities—including especially First Nations communities—compound existing challenges to post-secondary access for these populations.

Geographic access has been expanded in two primary ways. One is through creating new institutions and, in some provinces, new institutional types that allow students to complete some or all of their post-secondary education in or near their home community. This also includes the development of new degree types—including in particular the new baccalaureate degrees that are offered in the community college sector (Floyd, Skolnik & Walker,

2005)—so that degree-level qualifications may be obtained from a larger number of institutions. A second is through distance education and modified versions of open learning institutions that allow students to accumulate correspondence credits from one or more institutions that can lead to a degree or other credential.

Both such programs, however, are only viable as long as post-secondary credits are relatively portable from one institution to another. Furthermore, if transfer (whether physical or virtual) is a built-in component of the programs, so called "pipeline problems" can emerge: many students are lost in the transfer process, and relying on transfer to expand access can mean that many students will not successfully make the transition (Pusser & Turner, 2004; see also Andres & Krahn, 1999).

#### University College of the North

A new post-secondary institution was established in Manitoba in 2004. University College of the North offers coursework in 12 northern communities towards degree programs in Arts and (soon) in Education, as well as towards numerous technical and vocational certificates and diplomas. UCN also offers a transfer-year program for students who wish to begin their studies close to home before completing their program at one of Manitoba's other post-secondary institutions.

UCN is an example of community delivery of post-secondary education. This access strategy is identified as particularly valuable for Aboriginal students in the Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation's *Aboriginal Peoples and Post-Secondary Education* report (R.A. Malatest & Associates, 2004), which states that "the goal [of community delivery] is to eliminate much of the financial and social hardship brought about by long-term resettlement to a university campus. These programs have been especially important in allowing access for those who live in remote areas" (p. 26).

INVOLVING COMMUNITY 21

#### Campus Saskatchewan

Campus Saskatchewan is an online service that allows individuals to locate and register for courses and programs offered online and through correspondence. Like similar services in Manitoba, B.C., and Quebec, Campus Saskatchewan allows students to identify distance courses offered at all of Saskatchewan's post-secondary institutions and, in accordance with the regulations of the institution through which students are registered, earn credit towards a credential. Campus Saskatchewan also hosts the Saskatchewan Transfer Guide, which allows students to see how courses from one institution will transfer to a second. Through these services, Campus Saskatchewan acts as an online, centralized source of information about distance learning opportunities in the province, and allows students to earn their degrees in whole or in part by drawing on distance courses offered at multiple provincial institutions (Campus Saskatchewan, 2007).

# 3.3 Community and Accessibility

Community-based access programs and the engagement of local populations with post-secondary institutions complement financial and institutional programs to promote post-secondary access and success for under-represented populations. By addressing both the immediate social and academic needs of students, and enhancing community-institution relationships, the best such programs can offer lasting improvements in opportunities to pursue post-secondary education for community members.

# 4. Rethinking the System

As we have already noted, accessibility can be addressed through a variety of approaches and mechanisms, including the ways in which governments fund and steer post-secondary institutions, and through linkages between governments, post-secondary institutions, schools and communities. Another approach is to rethink the "system" in terms of questioning the existing boundaries between educational sectors, reconsidering the roles of different institutional types, and restructuring the mechanisms for system governance or coordination.

Perhaps the greatest Canadian example of reforming an entire higher education system occurred in Quebec during the Quiet Revolution under Lesage, and the creation of a Ministry of Education. Gérin-Lajoie followed his secularisation of the educational system with the creation of the *Collèges d'enseignement général et professionnel* (CEGEPs), the elimination of year 12 at the high school level and the elimination of one year of study to earn a Bachelor's degree (Durocher, 2007). At the same time, the Quebec government created the new multi-campus University of Quebec system and restructured the governance of its existing French-language universities.

Some of the most dramatic reforms to higher education have taken place outside North America over the last few decades. The mass expansion of higher education in the United Kingdom and many other European countries required major changes in system structures and governance arrangements. The current dramatic expansion of higher education in China is a function of major changes in how the system is coordinated, funded, and defined. In other words, these major transformations are not simply a response to changes in how governments fund institutions: they have usually involved rethinking the educational system.

Many of these reforms are idiosyncratic to the specific contexts, problems and challenges associated with the particular system, though three types of reforms illustrate different ways of rethinking the system in order to facilitate greater accessibility to post-secondary education: K–16 initiatives, adjusting the roles of institutions and reforming governance structures.

#### 4.1 K-16 Initiatives

Education has traditionally been discussed in terms of distinct sectors operating under different levels of government control with quite different objectives. The school sector became responsible for providing education for the first 12 or 13 years of mostly mandatory schooling. It was assumed that secondary school would fulfill the educational requirements of most students. Conceptualizing education as extending from kindergarten to the end of undergraduate education requires a rethinking of the system of traditional educational boundaries and arrangements. Within this perspective, policies from various levels of governance can target specific or larger transition issues such as facilitating transitions between sectors and institutions, Advanced Placement and International Baccalaureate programs, and rethinking year 12.

These issues all fall within a K–16 perspective of education, which is a reframing of the traditional 12 or 13 years of schooling that prepared the majority of students for the workforce, and the elite for university studies. Many students accessed an additional two years of study at community colleges before entering the workforce, yet the conceptualisation of "basic" education remained entrenched in a K–12 perspective. A high school diploma is no longer the minimum educational requirement for a productive workforce in the context of a knowledge economy.

As Kirst and Venezia (2006) note, reforms that fall within the traditionally separate silos of K–12 and higher education are "likely to perpetuate barriers that thwart student success" as "some of the most difficult challenges can be found at the juncture between our high schools and colleges" (p. 36). Some

of the most challenging issues associated with accessibility to post-secondary education involve student transitions from one sector or institution to another, and these transitions often involve leaping over the chasms between educational islands.

Tafel and Eberhart (1999) indicate that state-wide school-college partnerships in the United States take many forms, though most focus on early outreach and college preparation programs. For example:

- Minnesota's Get Ready! Targets under-represented minority students and their families as early as Grade 4, whereas the Georgia PREP initiative provides supplementary academic readiness to middle and high school students at risk.
- Florida encourages school-college collaboration with its Partnership in Education Excellence, which focuses on collaborations between colleges of education and school districts. In Virginia, the pre-collegiate awareness program funds academic activities on post-secondary campuses for students in grades 8 to 11.
- In Missouri, the K–16 coalition focuses on increasing mathematics performance in grades 11 and 12 as well as year 13 and 14 in colleges.

The authors highlight what they believe are necessary conditions for successful initiatives based on detailed analyses of programs in three states. They argue that successful programs require: explicit goals; a statewide organizational framework; incentives to sustain partnerships; a comprehensive data system to identify system gaps and inform new policy; a communication system to disseminate information and encourage public engagement; and mechanisms to identify substantive issues that require immediate attention.

Advanced Placement courses and International Baccalaureate programs, like the dual enrolment initiatives described in section 3, provide students with opportunities to obtain credits that will later be recognized by post-secondary institutions. These initiatives have traditionally served to fast-track elite students.

A number of studies and commissions in the United States have argued in favour of a K–14 perspective that would lead to a rethinking of grade 12 as the final year of secondary school. In its 2001 preliminary report, the National Commission on the High School Senior Year (2001b) noted a major gap in communication between education system participants in dealing with the transition between school and post-secondary

## The Co-reform of Teacher Education in Georgia

Georgia's P–16 initiative has involved ongoing collaboration with the Office of School Readiness, the Department of Education, the Department of Technical and Adult Education, and the University System of Georgia, educators from the P–12 and post-secondary institutions, school board members, youth advocates, legislative and business leaders. There is a state P-16 council as well and local and regional councils; recommendations move from local councils to the state council, and then to proper authorities and government structures. One of the objectives of the initiative is the "coreform of teacher education, advanced educator preparation programs, and public schools toward practices that result in all children meeting high

academic standards" (Zimpher, 1999, p. 4). In 1996, a P–16 teachers and teacher education sub-committee was appointed to identify areas of change and make recommendations. The sub-committee recommended a new framework for teacher education, increased availability of alternative teacher preparations programs, and changes to strengthen traditional programs. The state's Professional Standards Commission and Board of Regents acted on the recommendations and in 1997 the Innovative Program Rule was passed to expand alternative teacher preparation programs, the first of which was approved in 1998. A new policy on teacher preparation was in place in the fall of 2000 (Zimpher, 1999).

RETHINKING THE SYSTEM 25

education. The solution, according to the Commission's final report, "is to 1) improve alignment [K–14], (2) raise achievement and (3) provide more (and more rigorous) alternatives [to students]" (p. 20). For example, the Commission argued for an increase in the number of Middle College Schools, such as LaGuardia's Middle College High School, a high school on a college campus for students at risk of dropping out. These types of institutions could deal with years 11–14 or 12–14. (p. 30). This institutional model is obviously very similar to the Quebec CEGEP.

#### 4.2 Roles of Institutions

Governments frequently create new institutional forms or adjust the roles of existing institutions in order to increase access to post-secondary education while also addressing the needs of students and the labour market. Several Canadian provinces have established institutional models that bridge the traditional differences between community college and university education, such as the university colleges of British Columbia. Other special-purpose Canadian institutions include art colleges, and open universities, such as Athabasca University in Alberta. The central assumption is that a post-secondary system will be more accessible if it provides students with a range of educational options offered by different types of institutions. Increasing the breadth of possibilities will provide students with more opportunities to identify an educational program that matches their interests, objectives and circumstances. Recent provincial government reports have recommended the creation of new institutional types to address emerging needs, such as regional universities in British Columbia, and polytechnics in New Brunswick.

# 4.3 Governance and Coordination Structures

As we have already noted, access to post-secondary education can be improved if steps are taken to facilitate the transitions between what have traditionally been separate educational sectors and institutional types. In some situations the government structures for education parallel these divisions and there are few opportunities to consider educational policy across sectors.

In perhaps the greatest current experiment in furthering student mobility and transitions, the European Union's Lisbon Strategy and Bologna Process have led to the development of supra-national governance structures to facilitate communication between national governments and agencies as these systems move towards the adoption of a common degree framework and deal with the complex issues associated with student mobility between institutions and systems.

The governance arrangements for German higher education were modified in September of 2000. The new arrangements clarify the responsibilities of each level of government for higher education in this federal system. The *Länder* are now responsible for educational policies for higher education, except for policies that deal with admissions and degrees, though the *Länder* can deviate from federal regulations. Institutional governance structures have also been modified.

Haslam and Rubenstein (2000) indicate that the "final component of K–16 alignment is the development of governance structures that facilitate K–16 relationships. Current governance structures impede meaningful collaboration between K–12 and higher education systems" (p. 6). One approach that has proved successful has been the creation of state-wide K–16 Councils. In Georgia and Maryland, these state councils support regional councils to implement system changes. These state councils can help establish system goals, create new organizational frameworks, identify incentives for developing and maintaining partnerships, develop new data systems to inform policy, and develop communication systems.

Several Canadian provinces have created structures designed to coordinate and facilitate credit transfer between post-secondary institutions. For example, the British Columbia Council on Admissions and Transfer provides a forum for clarifying how credits earned at one post-secondary institution will be

treated by others. The end result is a transparent process where students have access to a transfer guide that provides them with information on credit transfer within the province. Alberta was the first province to create a transfer council, and it has now developed a number of structures and arrangements associated with its Campus Alberta initiative.

## Unité du continuum de l'apprentissage en langue française, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities, Ontario

Although several jurisdictions across Canada, the United States and Europe have created Ministries or Departments of Education that addressed JK–20 education, in July 2007, the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities of Ontario announced a restructuring of the French language policy and program branch (FLEPPB) of the Ministry of Education (K–12). This is a first initiative to rethink the educational governance structures for an underrepresented group, in this case Ontario's French first-language official minority. The Assistant

Deputy Minister responsible for French-language education (K–12), through the director of the FLEPPB (K–12), would assume responsibility for a third unit dedicated to French-language post-secondary programs and policy called the French-language continued learning unit. Transferring responsibility of this new unit to the FLEPPB creates a JK–20+ perspective for policy development and implementation, and creates an official dialogue space for policy-makers and governing bodies regarding French-language education in Ontario.

# 5. Measuring Success

As the examples used throughout this discussion paper illustrate, accessibility has become an important policy issue in many jurisdictions, and governments in different jurisdictions have developed policies, mechanisms, and structures that are designed to increase access to post-secondary education for the population as a whole, but also by specifically targeting underrepresented populations. An important component in these initiatives is the collection and analysis of data that allows policy-makers to obtain a clearer understanding of the problems that need to be addressed, as well as data that can assist in the evaluation of new initiatives to determine whether they have been successful in addressing the problem.

Increasingly, there is consensus that Canada's data and research infrastructure supporting policy development in post-secondary education requires improvement. In its September 20, 2007 press release, the Canadian Council on Learning argues that "Canada has no clear picture of how our post-secondary education is faring on the international stage due to a striking absence of key information." Reports in several provinces have noted the absence of national data on important policy questions, and research on post-secondary accessibility is a key objective of the new Higher Education Quality Council in Ontario. Limitations in Canada's national data infrastructure in this area, and the huge delays associated with obtaining what data are available, has been noted by the OECD.

This is not a uniquely Canadian issue. Many jurisdictions have had to take steps to improve their data systems, and they have had to devote new resources to ensure that the data and analysis needed to identify problems and evaluate the success or failure of new initiatives are available. A well-documented example often cited by American literature is the Florida Board of Education's K–20 Education Data Warehouse, and its capacity to link with existing external databases (Florida Department of Education, 2007).

The research in this area is highly technical. Accessibility is an extremely complex topic and there are difficult challenges associated with defining and measuring access. While research on the long-term success of various initiatives is not as readily available as are case studies focusing on new innovations, our review of this literature suggests that there are three broad themes that should be considered: the objectives for collecting data, transparency and openness and the importance of a strategic approach.

## 5.1 The Objectives

There are a range of different reasons to strengthen the collection and analysis of data on post-secondary education, but it is important to note that different objectives require different types of data, different tools and approaches for data collection, and different types of analysis.

Monitoring student access and persistence is an important objective at both the institutional and systems level. Some jurisdictions have developed data systems that track the movement and progress of students throughout their education system. In addition to data, Goldberger (2007) argues that there should be "a public reporting system that allows students, policymakers, and practitioners to identify institutions achieving strong results with high-priority subgroups..." (p. iii). Rich demographic data need to be collected so that differences in success by demographic characteristics can be monitored at all levels of post-secondary education, from vocational training to professional and graduate programs. In multi-jurisdictional federations such as Canada, realities of student mobility and regional access to minority-focused post-secondary education (French first-language, First Nations, etc.) stress the need for inter-jurisdictional longitudinal monitoring.

A second objective is quality assurance. Many jurisdictions have taken steps to develop quality assurance mechanisms, and these mechanisms or structures have led to the development of data systems designed to meet the government's objectives in this area. Changes in the European Union have led to the development of national quality assurance agencies that collect data on program and institutional performance.

A related objective is to assess and enhance teaching and learning within the post-secondary system. Teaching and learning are extraordinarily complex processes, and there are a range of different approaches to assessing the quality of teaching and the quality of learning. In the context of accessibility, it also becomes important to focus attention on differences within the student population in order to understand why some populations are more successful than others. A number of Canadian universities now participate in the National Survey on Student Engagement (NSSE) which collects data on student behaviours associated with learning

A fourth objective is to collect and disseminate data so that students can make informed choices about post-secondary education. An increasing number of organizations and publications rank institutions. Most claim to rank institutions for the benefit of potential students, in order to enable them to choose the institution that is the best fit for them, particularly helping first-generation students make informed choices by providing data on programs,

staff/student ratios, institutional resources and student life. Australia and Germany have national listings developed by government or arm's-length institutions, and Germany's CHE University Ranking system is frequently cited as a leading example. The European Union has initiated a Euroranking project to better inform students in European Union countries on their choices within the new mobility afforded to them by the Bologna Process. Not surprisingly, there are substantive differences of opinion on how to rank institutions and on the types of data or indicators that can or should inform student plans for post-secondary education.

# 5.2 Transparency and Openness

A second theme relates to transparency and openness. Governments can play a role in data collection and analysis that can lead to a population that is more informed about, and engaged with, higher education policy issues. Potential students can benefit from increased information that will lead to more informed educational choices. The public availability of data will also provide opportunities for scholars to use these studies as a foundation for further research on accessibility.

#### National Data Collection in Australia

As part of the "Backing Australia's Future—Realising Our Potential" initiative, the Australian Government announced plans for a national data collection on higher education application and offers in its 2007–2008 budget. A discussion paper was released in July 2007. Consultations were held in the six state capitals during the fall of 2007. There is hope that this initiative will provide complete, accurate and standardized data available at a national level, and allow for analysis of the data at a detailed level. The Australian Government is also addressing the need for complete and transparent

data on all students (K–12, vocational education and training and higher education) by implementing new national policies on data collecting of student background information in all state jurisdictions. Since 2007, background information has been collected in schools regarding students' sex, Indigenous status, socioeconomic background and language background. The data will be accessible for integration with existing and anticipated national data bases to track student access and success (Australian Government, 2007).

MEASURING SUCCESS 29

## 5.3 A Strategic Approach

Developing new, sophisticated approaches to collecting data on accessibility and monitoring the success of the higher education system cannot be accomplished quickly or in an ad hoc fashion. Higher education system reforms have often led to the development of strategic approaches to research and data collection. In complex systems of higher edu-cation, a strategic approach requires the involvement of multiple parties operating at the institution and system level, and investments in the development of research tools and in the dissemination of findings.

In September 2007, the Canadian Council on Learning published *A Pan-Canadian Data Strategy for Post-secondary Education*, "as a comprehensive plan for gathering and utilizing information that is required to make possible the sustained success of the PSE in Canada" (p.1). They identified three types of short term objectives:

- "ongoing and adequate funding for the essential data instruments;
- comprehensive data on special and salient issues in each of the eight priority areas for the PSE sector discussed; and
- 3) immediate implementation of a unique student identifier, collection and reporting of faculty numbers for colleges, data on adult education and data on private providers (p. 1)".

The eight priority areas addressed by their data strategy are:

- 1. A skilled and adaptable workforce
- 2. Innovation, knowledge and knowledge transfer
- 3. Active, healthy citizenry
- 4. Quality PSE
- 5. Access and opportunity for Canadians
- 6. Participation and success for under-represented groups (linked to 5)
- 7. Lifelong learning
- 8. Affordability

Discussions about a pan-Canadian data strategy need to address areas where data are missing or scattered regarding accessibility. These areas would include, for example, data that could lead to a better understanding of access and persistence of graduate students, students from rural areas, adult and continuing education students, students in vocational and workforce training, and on the social integration of students.

# 5.4 How Will We Know if We Are Successful?

Higher education systems need data in order to explore and understand accessibility. They need to be able to determine what individuals or groups are experiencing problems in accessing the system, or in successfully completing their education. Governments need to know where to target resources, and whether new initiatives are addressing the needs of targeted populations.

Although many data sets and accountability measures such as reporting are in place in most Canadian provinces, what is lacking is a system-wide data infrastructure that allows for detailed longitudinal tracking in a K-20 perspective, and across the educational jurisdictions in Canada. As student mobility increases, student profiles change, and the supply side of the equation is accounted for in discussions around accessibility at all levels of post-secondary education (college, undergraduate, professional and graduate programs, vocational and workplace training, etc.), discussions around what data to collect and for what purpose need to be explored in a national and supranational K-20 context. Without a stronger data infrastructure it will be impossible to know whether government policies and initiatives are succeeding in improving accessibility to post-secondary education in Canada.

## 6. Concluding Observations

Although Canada's overall rates of participation in post-secondary education are among the highest in the world, stark inequities exist in the post-secondary participation rates of certain groups in Canada. Our objective in this paper was to provide an overview of system-level approaches to increasing accessibility especially for under-represented groups. In general, we have focused on reviewing the literature rather than critiquing existing research. In doing so, we have identified a wide range of policy instruments, funding mechanisms, and innovative strategies that have been employed by government to deal with access issues. We have attempted to include details on certain strategies in sidebars noting the limitations of these approaches where appropriate. Our review of the literature leads us to suggest that there are a number of issues that Canadian governments should consider when developing mechanisms to improve access.

#### 6.1 Context

This paper illustrates that a number of elements go into the accessibility equation, and these factors interact rather uniquely within jurisdictions and within targeted groups. Policy responses to access issues evolve from, and are embedded in, historical, social, economic, political and cultural contexts. Therefore, it is important to note that not all policy instruments travel well, even across North American jurisdictions. While Canada may learn from the United States and other countries, importing their policy mechanisms may not be appropriate, nor are we advocating in this review that Canadian governments should adopt most or all of the strategies described in these pages. Indeed although some provinces have already adopted some of these approaches, others are in the early stages of experimenting with new, uniquely Canadian ways of increasing accessibility.

# 6.2 Develop Clear System Definitions and Goals for "Accessibility" and "Success"

There is little doubt that accessibility is an important goal in provincial policies for higher education, but the goal is frequently expressed at the system level in quite general terms without articulating clear system-level objectives or targets. A related problem is that various definitions are employed by different stakeholders in post-secondary education as to what is meant by "accessibility" and student "success."

Arguably, system-level goals are necessarily expressed generally. They cover a multitude of sectors, institutions and groups. Consequently, system-level goals can become "nobody's goals," which everyone can avoid. This is compounded by imprecise notions of "accessibility" and "success." In contrast, meaningful expressions of access goals usually exist at the sector, institutional and targeted group level. Therefore, Canadian governments might improve system-level access by clearly defining the goals and objectives of the system related to accessibility and by improving alignment of the sector/institutional/group access goals with system-level goals. Governments need to reaffirm a broad and precise definition of accessibility that includes admission and retention of students, as well as successful outcomes for them.

If governments are determined to integrate targets for accessibility into accountability mechanisms, our review suggests that stakeholder buy-in must be obtained in order for these measures to be successful. Ideally the agreement must be negotiated with the institutions and not imposed on institutions. Mutually agreeable objectives that respect institutional autonomy and that are consistent with the institutional mission must be arrived at. Also, the level of funding attached to performance indicators

must be less than five per cent of the total funding to the institution. The literature suggests that this level is sufficient to produce change in institutional behaviour without destabilizing the system in the event that institutions do not meet their targets. Finally, punitive systems are less effective than reward systems when tying performance indicators to funding.

## 6.3 Facilitating Transitions and Mobility

There is considerable evidence that the transitions between programs, institutions, and sectors can be difficult, including the transition from secondary school to post-secondary institution, and the transitions within the higher education system as students shift programs or institutions, or return to seek further education. A number of the approaches described in this paper offer ways of facilitating these transitions by involving community members and organizations in support programs, adopting a K-16 perspective, and strengthening the arrangements for credit transfer within the post-secondary system. Some of these approaches are challenging because they involve linkages between very different institutions (universities, colleges, school boards) and communities, and there are sometimes issues of territoriality and concerns about institutional autonomy. However, it is important to emphasize the importance of taking steps that are in the best interests of our students.

There is an increasing national and international dimension to the discussion of transition, transfer and credential recognition. Students move between institutions in different provinces, or transition between institutions in different countries. National discussions on this topic are challenging in Canada given our unique federal arrangements. Some attention must be paid to clarifying the respective responsibilities between the federal and provincial governments in improving transitions and student mobility.

### 6.4 Target Low-Access Populations

Canada has high participation rates in post-secondary education, but some groups and populations have lower access than the population as a whole. If Canada is to increase accessibility to post-secondary education then it is important to focus special attention on low-access populations.

Large components of Canada's expenditures on student financial assistance are in the form of universal aid programs. A more efficient strategy for increasing accessibility is to spend less money on universal student financial assistance programs that are designed to benefit all students regardless of personal income or circumstances, such as tuition tax credits, and more money on initiatives targeted to those who need it most. Of course it isn't just a matter of student financial assistance; our review has described a wide range of initiatives designed to support targeted groups through academic support initiatives, community involvement and special programs.

# 6.5 Strengthen Canada's Data and Research Infrastructure Focusing on Access to PostSecondary Education

At this point Canadian governments do not have the data that they need to develop policy on accessibility to post-secondary education. There are substantive gaps in data, and long delays in the release of data and analysis. Current national data systems need to be improved, and there needs to be a discussion between governments and institutions on approaches to obtaining data that will inform policy. This will not be an easy process since there are complex definitional issues and important resource implications.

We are also suggesting the creation of a research infrastructure that promotes the dissemination, sharing and communication of data. This requires CONCLUDING OBSERVATIONS 33

identifying what data are already collected by institutions and governments. It requires determining whether existing data are useful in terms of contributing to our understanding of accessibility. Finally, given the costly nature of data collection, dissemination and storage, governments must be prepared to invest in research data infrastructure. In particular they must be prepared to invest in new research, such as large-scale longitudinal studies that track students through the educational systems from kindergarten to graduate and continuing education so that we can increase our understanding of accessibility at all levels.

## 6.6 Recognize That Some Problems Cannot be Solved by Post-Secondary Institutions

While post-secondary institutions clearly have a role to play in increasing accessibility, it is also clear that there are access problems that cannot be solved by these institutions alone but require the involvement of schools, communities and governments. Not all accessibility issues can be solved or addressed "inside" the post-secondary system, but require broad collaboration with a range of agencies, organizations and groups.

Accessibility is now regarded as a key issue in almost every higher education system. Governments can play an extremely important leadership role in defining the access goals and objectives of the higher education system, steering the system in the direction of meeting those goals, as well as bringing together and supporting the collaborative relationships involving different systems, sectors, institutions and communities necessary to find new ways of encouraging

participation and addressing barriers. However, our review suggests that there is no one panacea for accessibility issues in post-secondary education because no one factor fully accounts for accessibility among various groups in Canada's population. Moreover, it is difficult to ascertain the success of any one particular factor or approach to accessibility within Canada or elsewhere because of numerous variables influencing outcomes (for example, variations in tuition rates, costs, policies, support for students, etc). Government approaches must be carefully and uniquely crafted based on their identification of the precise problem they want to readdress.

## 6.7 Keep an Eye on System Capacity

A system can be extremely successful in encouraging and supporting students so that they will try to access post-secondary education, but it will fail if there are not enough spaces for these new students. There is considerable evidence that post-secondary enrolment will grow nationally over at least the next decade (Hango & de Broucker, 2007), though there are differences of opinion when projecting beyond that point. What is clear, however, is that provincial governments must monitor enrolment demand. As the participation rates of the population as a whole continue to increase, and as demographic trends in some parts of the country suggest important increases in the demand for higher education, it will be extremely important to ensure that the system has the capacity to allow for increased accessibility. Governments must closely monitor the supply of post-secondary education, and, where necessary, build capacity into the system now in terms of human, financial and physical resources.

## Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for the helpful comments and suggestions that they received at a special seminar focusing on an early draft of this paper. Seminar participants included Professor Peter Maassen (Oslo), Professor Claude Trottier (Laval), Dr. Ken Norrie (Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario), and Professors Tony Chambers and Creso Sa (Toronto). We also received detailed comments from Professor Paul Axelrod (York) and Professor Emeritus Michael Skolnik (Toronto).

# Appendix: Summary of Working Group Discussion

#### **Working Group Lead:**

Glen A. Jones, Professor, University of Toronto

#### **Working Group Facilitator:**

Brian Desbiens, Past President of Fleming College

#### **Discussants:**

Mr. Chris Locke, Executive Director, Ontario Undergraduate Student Alliance

Dr. Catherine Millett, Senior Research Scientist Educational Training Service

Dr. Andrew Parkin, Associate Executive Director Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation

#### Introduction

This discussion paper was one of four prepared for an international conference entitled "Neither a Moment Nor a Mind to Waste: Strategies for Broadening Access to Post-Secondary Education" sponsored by the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation and the European Access Network. During this conference, held April 6-8, 2008, each of the 350 participants selected a working group and took part in two focused discussions of one of these thematic papers. Working Group 4 focused on systemlevel initiatives to increase accessibility to PSE, using this paper as a starting point for the discussion. In the first session, the lead author provided an overview of the paper, identified key findings and addressed questions from the group. The group facilitator then asked participants to provide feedback on the paper in terms of concerns with how the theme was addressed, or identifying important issues that should be included. In the second working group session, three discussants provided comments on the paper. Then, the facilitator led a discussion of recommendations for system-level initiatives that could help expand access to PSE. This report's summarizes the key points and recommendations that emerged from these discussions.

#### **Key Factors and Policy Issues**

Since participants chose their working group, it is surprising that this working group drew a diverse range of individuals who shared a common interest in looking at post-secondary accessibility from a system-level perspective. This working group included provincial and federal government officials, institutional leaders, business leaders, and individuals from a range of community organizations. The discussion paper received very positive feedback from the working group. Participants indicated that the paper captured the key issues and provided a balanced analysis of system-level initiatives associated with increasing access. Each of the three discussants highlighted particular elements of the paper that they believe captured important issues, including the need to expand access initiatives and student assistance to populations that have the greatest needs, and the importance of creating an environment where policy is informed by the research. The working group discussion focused largely on ways to move the access agenda forward at the system-level, including specific recommendations.

The group identified a number of key considerations and policy issues that must be considered in any attempt to initiate system-level change in this policy area. Access issues are multi-faceted and extremely complex; they are "wicked problems" in that they are difficult to define and that no clear solution may exist. There are also substantial differences by province in demographics, levels of access, access policies, and system structures. While increasing access to post-secondary education should be a Canadian priority, there is no simple, national solution. Increasing access means bringing together governments, institutions, business and communities to find approaches that recognize national, provincial, and local contexts.

However, the group noted that there are a number of key problems that must be addressed in order to move forward. One is that there is no clear sense of agency or urgency. The issue involves multiple governments, institutions and stakeholders with little sense that the problem is "owned" by anyone There is limited recognition of its importance. There is a need for leadership and for greater clarity in terms of who is responsible for what. The second problem is goal ambiguity. There is a need for greater clarity in establishing goals and priorities for accessibility to PSE. Finally, our capacity to define and address access issues has become limited by an extremely inadequate data and research infrastructure supporting policy development in this area. We simply do not have the national data and research infrastructure necessary to make informed policy decisions on post-secondary education.

In the concluding session, working group members were asked to articulate specific recommendations for moving forward on the agenda of increasing access to post-secondary education. In order to obtain some sense of the magnitude of support for each recommendation, the facilitator asked group members to vote on each recommendation, a process that led to

the group abandoning some recommendations and reworking and rethinking others. A group secretary took extensive notes of these deliberations on flip charts. The group leader and facilitator carefully reviewed these notes and prepared a summary of the group's recommendations. These recommendations were later reviewed in a plenary session by the conference. The feedback from the working group suggested that these recommendations, discussed below, were a fair representation of its conclusions.

#### Recommendations

#### Develop and communicate clear goals for increasing participation in, and graduation from, post-secondary education.

The first important step in moving forward is to develop goals and to send a clear message that increasing access to PSE is an issue of national importance. We also need to work towards increasing student success by establishing goals for post-secondary completion. This is an issue of economic development, social justice, and empowering our citizens. Governments, institutions, business and communities can all play a role in increasing accessibility to PSE. Moving this issue forward will require bold leadership, role clarity, and collaboration.

## 2. Develop a national strategy to strengthen our data collection and research infrastructure supporting post-secondary education policy.

The working group concluded that it is important to develop a "culture of evidence" where access policy is informed by research. Our current data and research infrastructure is clearly adequate. We need to strengthen our capacity for policy development by ensuring that we have a policy research infrastructure that will support informed decisions and further the level of public debate. A possible starting point for moving forward on this issue might involve supporting a comparative analysis of other national data systems, and creating a national panel to make recommendations on strategy and approach.

#### 3. Focus on Transitions and Student Mobility

Many access problems involve difficulties in transition, including student transitions between school levels within the school system, between schools and post-secondary institutions, between different postsecondary institutions, between post-secondary institutions and the labour market, and between the labour market and post-secondary institutions. Early intervention initiatives in our schools are extremely important. Schools, universities, and colleges are often separate silos. It is important to "rethink" the educational system, perhaps by including strategic P-20 solutions in order to develop solutions that look across existing components in order to develop more holistic approaches. We need to strengthen the system's capacity for accessibility by developing transparent arrangements for articulation and transfer, revisiting the roles of existing institutions, considering the creation of "open" post-secondary institutions and ensuring that appropriate resources are in place.

### 4. Target Support to the Populations With the Greatest Needs

A great deal of federal and provincial support to access is provided through universal programs, but given limited public resources it may be time to shift the balance between universal student financial assistance (through tax credits and savings programs) and targeted student financial assistance programs. Initiatives that provide a small level of support to everyone who participates do little to encourage participation from under-represented populations; a much more effective public policy would put meaningful levels of support in the hands of those who need it most.

### 5. Foster Success for Canada's Aboriginal Populations

The level of education of Canada Aboriginal population is, on average, much lower than the level of education of the population as a whole. It is extremely important that Canada's Aboriginal populations have the resources necessary to increase access to schools and post-secondary education for their communities. We need to honour the Aboriginal leadership and respect Aboriginal approaches to education.

### References

Alberta Advanced Education. (2006). *A learning Alberta: Final report of the steering committee.* (2006). Edmonton: Author.

Andres, L. and Krahn, H. (1999). Youth pathways in articulated post-secondary systems: Enrolment and completion patterns of urban young women and men. *Canadian Journal Of Higher Education* 29(1), 47–82.

Astin, A. (1993). What matters in college: Four critical years revisited. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Atkinson-Grosjean, J., House, D., & Fisher, D. (2001). Canadian science policy and public research organizations in the 20th century. *Science Studies: An Interdisciplinary Journal for Science and Technology Studies* 14(1), 3–25.

Australian Government, Department of Education, Employment, and Workplace Relations. (2007, August). *Backing Australia's Future—Realising Our Potential Newsletter 27*.

Banta, T. (2007). Can assessment for accountability complement assessment for improvement? *Peer Review* 9(2), 9–12.

Berger, J., Motte, A. & Parkin, A. (2006). *The price of knowledge: Access and student finance in Canada*. Ottawa: Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Berheld, C. W. (2007). Doing less work, collecting better data: Using capstone courses to assess learning. *Peer Review* 9(2), 27–30.

Bramwell, A., & Wolfe, D. A. (2005). *Universities and regional economic development: The entrepreneurial University of Waterloo*. Paper presented at the Canadian Political Science Association Annual Conference, University of Western Ontario.

Brown, R. S. & Niemi, D.N. (2007). *Investigating the alignment of high school and community college assessments in California*. Washington: National Center for Public Policy.

Bruneau, B. & Savage, D. (2002). *Counting out the scholars: The case against performance indicators in higher education*. Toronto: Lorimer and Company.

Campus Saskatchewan. (2007). *Campus Saskatchewan*. Regina: Author. Retrieved October 13, 2007, from http://www.campussaskatchewan.ca/.

Canadian Council on Learning. (2006). Measuring quality in post-secondary education. Ottawa: Author.

Canadian Council on Learning. (2007). Report on learning in Canada 2007: Measuring what Canadians value: A pan-Canadian data strategy for post-secondary education, Ottawa: Author.

Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation. (2005). *Post-secondary education: Cultural, scholastic and economic drivers.* Montreal: Author.

Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation. (2006). *The impact of bursaries: Debt and student persistence in post-secondary education* (Millennium research note #4). Montreal: Author.

Canadian Policy Research Networks for the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation. (2002). *Access to post-secondary education in Canada: Facts and gaps*. Ottawa: Author.

Chun, M. (2002). Looking where the light is better: A review of the literature on assessing higher education quality. *Peer Review* 4(2/3), 16–25.

Conley, D. (2001). Rethinking the senior year. *National Association of Secondary School Principals Bulletin* 85, 26–41.

Conley, D. (2003). *Mixed Messages: What state high school tests communicate about student readiness for college.* Eugene, OR: Center for Educational Policy Research.

Conley, D. (2007). *Toward a more comprehensive conception of college readiness*. Eugene, OR: Educational Policy Improvement Center.

Cornwell, C., Mustard, D., & Sridhar, D. (2006). The enrolment effects of merit-based financial aid: Evidence from Georgia's HOPE scholarship. *Journal of Labor Economics* 24(4), 761–786.

Council of Ministers of Education, Canada. (1999). *A report on public expectations of postsecondary education in Canada*. Toronto: Author.

Council of Ontario Universities (2001). *A background report prepared for the working group on performance funding: Lessons from other jurisdictions.* Toronto: Author.

Davies, S., & Quirke, L. (2002). The new entrepreneurship in higher education: The impact of tuition increases at an Ontario university. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 32(3), 85–110.

de Broucker, P. (2006). *Post-secondary education in Canada: A vision from Canadian youth*. Ottawa: Canadian Policy Research Networks.

Dee, T., Jackson, L. (1999). Who loses HOPE? Attrition from Georgia's college scholarship program. Southern Economic Journal 66(2), 379–390.

Donald, H. G. & Denison, D. B. (1996). Evaluating undergraduate education: the use of broad indicators. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education 21*(1), 23–39.

Dougherty, K. J., Reid, M., & Nienhusser, H. K. (2006). *State policies to achieve the dream in five states*: Indianapolis: Lumina Foundation for Education

Drolet, M. (2005). *Participation in post-secondary education in Canada: Has the role of parental income and education changed over 1990s?* Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Durocher, R. (2007) Révolution tranquille. *L'Encyclopédie canadienne*. Fondation Historica, Retrieved October 10, 2007, from http://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.com.

Dynarski, S. (2000). *Hope for whom? Financial aid for the middle class and its impact on college attendance.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Dynarski, S. (2002). The new merit aid. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Dynarski, S. (2007, August 17). Focus tax incentives on the students who need them. *Chronicle of Higher Education* 53(50).

REFERENCES 43

Ekman, R., Garth, R., & Noonan, J. (Eds.) (2004). *Powerful partnerships: Independent colleges share high-impact strategies for low-income students' success.* Indianapolis: Lumina Foundation for Education.

Erlich, V. (1998). Les nouveaux étudiants: Un groupe social en mutation. Paris: Armand Colin.

Evenbeck, S. & Hamilton, S. (2006). From "my course" to "our progam": Collective responsibility for first-year student success. *Peer Review* 8(3), 17–19.

Faculty of Education, York University. (2007). Advanced Credit Experience (ACE) in the Westview partnership: University Paths Programs. Toronto: Author. Retrieved November 30th, 2007, from

Finnie, R. & Usher, A. (2005). *Measuring the quality of post-secondary education: Concepts, current practices and a strategic plan*. Ottawa: Canadian Policy Research Networks.

Finnie, R., Laporte, C., & Lascellas, E. (2004). *Family background and access to postsecondary education: What happened over the 1990s?* Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Finnie, R., Lascellas, E., & Sweetman, A. (2007). Who goes? The direct and indirect effects of family background on access to postsecondary education. In C. M. Beach, R. W. Broadway & R. M. McInnis (Eds.), *Higher education in Canada* (pp. 295–339). Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.

Fisher, D., Rubenson, K., Bernatchez, J., Clift, R., Jones, G., Lee, J., MacIvor, M., Meredith, J., Shanahan, T. & Trottier, C. (2006). *Canadian federal policy and postsecondary education*. Vancouver: Centre for Policy Studies in Higher Education and Training, University of British Columbia.

Fisher, D., Lee, J., MacIvor, M., Meredith, J. & Rubenson, K. (2005). *The development of a postsecondary education system in British Columbia: Transformation and change*. New York: Alliance for International Higher Education Policy Studies.

Florida Department of Education. (2007). *Accountability, research and measurement*. Tallahassee: Author. Retrieved September, 2007, from http://www.fldoe.org/arm/.

Floyd, D. L., Skolnik, M. L., & Walker, K. P. (2005). *The community college baccalaureate: Emerging trends and policy issues*. Herndon, VA: Stylus Publishing.

Frenette, M. (2003). Access to college and university: Does distance matter? Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Frenette, M. (2005a). Is post-secondary access more equitable in Canada or in the USA? Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Frenette, M. (2005b). *The impact of tuition fees on university access: Evidence from a large-scale price deregulation in professional programs*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Frenette, M. (2007). *Do universities benefit local youth? Evidence from university and college participation, and graduate earnings following the creation of a new university.* Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Gelin, F. (1999). *Transfer rates: How to measure and for what purpose?* Vancouver: British Columbia Council on Admissions and Transfer.

Goldberger, S. (2007). *Power tools: Designing state community college data and performance measurement systems to increase student success.* Boston, MA: Jobs for the Future.

Goodman, K. & Pascarella, E. (2006). First year seminars increase persistence and retention: A summary of evidence from *How college affects students*. *Peer Review* 8(3), 26–28.

Government of Ontario. (2007). *McGuinty government improving access to postsecondary opportunity in Bruce County*. Toronto: Author. Retrieved October 13, 2007, from http://fanshawec.on.ca/newsletter/2007/07/6.asp.

Grayson, P., & Grayson, K. (2003). *Research on retention and attrition*. Montreal: Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Green, M. F. (1995). Transforming British higher education: A view from across the Atlantic. *Higher Education 29*(3), 225–239.

Greenbank, P. (2006). The evolution of government policy on widening participation. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 60(2), 141–160.

Hango, D. & de Broucker, P. (2007). *Postsecondary enrolment trends to 2031: Three scenarios*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Haslam, B.M. & Rubenstein M.C. (2000). *K–16 alignment as a strategy to improve the connection between high school and postsecondary education*. Washington: Policy Studies Associates.

Heller, D. (Ed.). (2001). *The states and public higher education policy: Affordability, access and accountability.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Hersh, R.H. (2007). Going naked. Peer Review 9(2), 4-8.

Higher Education Act of 1965, H.R. 9567, 89th Cong. of the United States of America (1965).

Hoffman, N. (2005). *Add and subtract: Dual enrollment as a state strategy to increase postsecondary success for underrepresented students.* Boston: Jobs for the Future.

Hormuth, S. (2002). Germany: Through reform and European compatibility to internationalization. Paper presented at the Globalization: What Issues are at Stake for Universities? seminar, Université de Laval, Ouébec.

Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. (1991). *Appendix 5a: Native education and training strategy*. Ottawa: Author. Retrieved October 13, 2007, from http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ch/rcap/sg/sia5a\_e.html.

James, R., Baldwin, G., Coates, H., Krause, K., & McInnis, C. (2004). *Analysis of equity groups in higher education,* 1991–2002. Canberra: Australian Department of Education, Science and Training

Junor, S., & Usher, A. (2004). *The price of knowledge: Access and student finance in Canada*. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Kaiser, F., J. et al. (2007). *Issues in higher education policy 2006: An update on higher education policy issues in 2006 in 10 Western countries*. Enschede, Netherlands: Centre for Higher Education Policy Studies.

Karp, M. M., Bailey, T. R., Hughes, K. L., & Fermin, B. J. (2004). *State dual enrollment policies: Addressing access and quality.* Washington: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult Education.

Kirst, M. W. & Venezia, A. (2006). What states must do. Chronicle of Higher Education, 52(27), B36.

Krueger, C. (2006). *Dual enrollment: Policy issues confronting state policy makers*. Denver: Education Commission of the States.

REFERENCES 45

Krueger, J.G., Anderson, S., Lyle, M. & Nyenhuis, J. (2005). Creating an inquiry-based engineering learning environment for upper elementary students through successful K–16 service learning partnerships: The happy hollow elementary school story. Paper presented at the 35th ASEE/IEEE Frontiers in Education conference, Indianapolis.

L'Orange, H.P. & Ewell, P. (2007). P-20 Data Systems: An alignment status report. Austin: Data Quality Campaign.

Lambert, M., Zeman, K., Allen, M., & Bussière, P. (2004). *Who pursues postsecondary education, who leaves and why: Results from the youth in transition survey.* Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Landler, M. (2006, October 19). Germany fights to reform higher education. International Herald Tribune.

Lang, D. W. (2006). The political economy of performance funding. In I. Iacobucci & C. Tuohy (Eds.), *Taking public universities seriously* (pp. 226–250). Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Livingstone, D. W., & Hart, D. (2001). Public Faith in Education: Canadian Trends and Predictions. *Education Canada*, 41(1), 32–35.

Long, B. (2004). How do financial aid policies affect colleges? The institutional impact of the Georgia HOPE scholarship. *Journal of Human Resources* 39(4), 1045–1066.

Maassen, P., Maglahães, A., & Amaral, A. (Eds.). (2007, forthcoming). Governing Access to Higher Education.

McElroy, E. J., & Armesto, M. (1998). TRIO and upward bound: History, programs, and issues—past, present, and future. *Journal of Negro Education*, 67(4), 373–380.

McLaughlin, M. (2003). *Tertiary education policy in New Zealand*. Wellington: Ian Axford New Zealand Fellowship in Public Policy.

Metcalfe, A. S., et al. (2007). *Campus 2020 and the future of British Columbia's post-secondary education: Critical responses and policy perspectives*. Vancouver: Centre for Policy Studies in Higher Education, University of British Columbia. Retrieved November 30, 2007, from www.chet.educ.ubc.ca.

Myers, D., Olsen, R., Seftor, N., Young, J., & Tuttle, C. (2004). *The impacts of regular Upward Bound: Results from the third follow-up data collection*. Washington: U.S. Department of Education, Office of the Under Secretary.

National Commission on the High School Senior Year. (2001a). *The lost opportunity of the senior year: Finding a better way: Summary of findings.* Princeton: Woodrow Wilson National Fellowship Foundation.

National Commission on the High School Senior Year. (2001b). *Raising our sights: No high school senior left behind: Final report*. Princeton: Woodrow Wilson National Fellowship Foundation.

Neill, C. (2007). Canada's tuition and education tax credits. Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Nettles, M. T., Cole, J.J.K, & Sharp, S. (1997). *Assessment of teaching and learning in higher education and public accountability*. Stanford: National Center for Postsecondary Improvement.

Ontario Office of Francophone Affairs. (2005). Address by the Honorable Madeleine Meilleur, minister responsible for francophone affairs and minister of culture to the sommet des intervenants et des intervenants en éducation dans la mise en oeuvre de l'article 23 en milieu francophone minoritaire. Toronto: Author. Retrieved October 13, 2007, from http://www.ofa.gov.on.ca/english/office-speeches-030605.html.

Pathways to Education Canada. (2007). Toronto: Author. Retrieved November 30, 2008, from http://pathwaystoeducation.ca/pathways.html.

Pechar, H. (2005). Backlash or modernisation? Two reform cycles in Austrian higher education. In A. Gornitzka et al. (Eds.), *Reform and change in higher education* (pp. 269–286). Netherlands: Springer.

Pennington, H. (2004). *Fast track to college: Increasing postsecondary success for all students*. Washington: Renewing our School, Securing Our Future: National Task Force on Public Education, Center for American Progress.

Petro Canada. (2007). *Educational support*. Calgary: Author. Retrieved October 13, 2007, from http://www.petro-canada.ca/en/socialresp/1046.aspx.

Plant, G. (2007). Campus 2020. Vancouver: British Columbia Ministry of Advanced Education.

Posner, G. J. (2004). Analyzing the Curriculum (3rd edition). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Pusser, B., & Turner, J. K. (2004). Student mobility: Changing patterns, challenging policymakers. *Change*, 36(2), 36–43.

R.A.Malatest & Associates. (2004) *Aboriginal peoples and post-secondary education: What educators have learned.* (2004). Montreal: Canadian Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Rae, B. (2005). Ontario: A leader in learning. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges, and Universities.

Richardson, J. T. E., Slater, J.B. & Wilson, J. (2007). The national student survey: Development, findings and implications. *Studies in Higher Education* 32(5), 557–580.

Richardson, R.C. Jr., (2006). *U.S. Federal Policies and Higher Education*. New York: Alliance for International Higher Education Policy Studies.

Salerno, C. (2002). *Higher education in Sweden*. Enschede, Netherlands: Centre for Higher Education Policy Studies.

Salmi, J. & Hauptman, A.M. (2006). *Innovations in tertiary education financing: A comparative evaluation of allocation mechanisms*. Washington: World Bank.

Schuetze, H. G. (2002). Canadian universities and their changing environment: Consequences for academic governance and administration. In A. Arimoto (Ed.), *University reforms and academic governance reconsidered*, (pp. 81–100). Hiroshima: Hiroshima University.

Sheets, R. G. (2002). *Improving state accountability systems for postsecondary vocational education*. Washington: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult Education.

Skolnik, M. (2004). The relationship of the community college to other providers of postsecondary and adult education in Canada and implications for policy. *Higher Education Perspectives*, *1*(1), 36–58.

Slaughter, S., & Leslie, L. L. (1997). *Academic capitalism: Politics, policies, and the entrepreneurial university.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Stager, D. (1989). *Focus on fees: alternative policies for university tuition fees*. Toronto: Council of Ontario Universities

Stein, W.J. (1990). The funding of tribally controlled colleges. Journal of American Indian Education 30(1), 1–7.

Strehl, F. (2007). Funding systems and their effects on higher education systems: International report (Education Working Paper 6). Paris: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development.

REFERENCES 47

Swail, S., & Heller, D. E. (2004). *Changes in tuition policy: Natural policy experiments in five countries.* Montreal: Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Swail, W. S., & Perna, L. W. (2002). Pre-college outreach programs: A national perspective. In W. G. Tierney & L. S. Hagedorn (Eds.), *Increasing access to college* (pp. 15–34). Albany: State University of New York Press.

Tafel, J. & Eberhart, N. (1999). *Statewide school-college (K–16) partnerships to improve student performance: State strategies that support successful student transitions from secondary to postsecondary education.* Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers.

Tinto, V. (1987). Leaving college. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Trottier, C., Bernatchez, J. (2005). *Higher education policy in Quebec: A case study*. New York: Alliance for International Higher Education Policy Studies.

United States Department of Education (2007). *Guide to U.S. Department of Education programs*. Washington: Author, Office of Communication and Outreach.

United States Department of Education. (2005). *Dual credit and exam-based courses in U.S. public high schools 2002–2003*. Washington: Author.

Usher, A. & Potter, A. (2006). *A state of the filed review of postsecondary education*. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Learning.

Usher, A., & Cervenan, A. (2005). *Global higher education rankings: Affordability and accessibility in comparative perspective*. Toronto: Educational Policy Institute.

Venezia, A. & Kirst, M. W. (2005). Inequitable opportunities: How current education systems and policies undermine the chances for student persistence and success in college. *Educational Policy* 19(2), 283–307.

Venezia, A., Callan, P., Finney, J., Kirst, D., & Usdan, M. (2005). *The governance divide: A report on a four-state study of improving college readiness and success*. Stanford: Institute for Educational Leadership, Stanford Institute for Higher Education Research.

Wellen, R. (2004). The tuition dilemma and the politics of 'mass' higher education (income-contingent repayment). *Canadian Journal of Higher Education 34*(1), 47–81.

Wolfe, D. A. (2002). *Knowledge, learning and social capital in Ontario's ICT clusters*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Canadian Political Science Association, University of Toronto.

Wolfe, D.A. (1998). *Quality and accountability in PSE research: The measurement challenge*. Toronto: Council of Ministers of Education Canada.

Zimpher, N.L. (1999). Teacher quality and P–16 reform: The state policy context: State strategies that support successful student transitions from secondary to postsecondary education. Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers.